RECEIVED

Sep 07 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000143
Civil Action No. 2020-CP-32-00146

CONSTANCE MAYERS as Personal
Representative for the Estate of
Darrius "George" Dreher,

Appellant,

v.

Logan Bird, Samuel Bird, James
Coleman Hunter, Ayden Phillips,
Kenneth Cole Godley, Dominion
Energy South Carolina, Inc., Mark
McMillan, and Kimberly McMillan,
Defendants,

Respondent.

of whom AYDEN PHILLIPS is the

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Angeline M. Larrivee
Roy T. Willey, IV
Eric M. Poulin
32 Ann Street
Charleston, SC 29403

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR AYDEN PHILLIPS, WHERE THERE WAS AT LEAST A SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE THAT HE WAS LIABLE UNDER THE SOCIAL-HOST DOCTRINE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

On January 9, 2020, Appellant Constance Mayers (as Personal Representative for the Estate of Darrius “George” Dreher) brought negligence, wrongful death, and survival claims against several defendants, including Ayden Phillips, the Respondent on appeal. S&C pp. 1-29 (R. pp. 25-51).² As relevant to this appeal, Appellant alleged that Phillips, while on private property, “provided alcohol to” an underage driver, “encouraged” her to “knowingly consume alcohol, and facilitated her consumption of alcohol.” Amend. S&C pp. 3, 6-7 (R. p. 54; R. pp. 57-58); *see* Amend. S&C pp. 13-14 (R. pp. 64-65). Ultimately, the underage, intoxicated driver struck and killed a young man, George Dreher. Amend. S&C pp. 3-4 (R. pp. 54-55).

Phillips denied most of the allegations. Phillips’ Answer pp. 1-7 (R. pp. 81-87). He also raised multiple defenses to Appellant’s claims for punitive damages; raised the defenses of contributory and comparative negligence and of a superseding cause; and “claim[ed] [his] rights

¹ Dramatis Personae (in alphabetical order):

Logan Bird (“Bird”), the minor alleged to have killed George Dreher.

Haley Davis (“Davis”), a friend of Phillips who testified to Bird’s alcohol consumption.

George Dreher (“Dreher”), the decedent.

Kenneth Cole Godley (“Godley”), the young man whose home Bird visited between her visit to Phillips’ home and the fatal collision.

Ayden Phillips (“Phillips”), the Respondent, the adult alleged to have provided alcohol to Bird.

Kenneth Lee Prater (“Prater”), a friend of Phillips.

Austin Tyler Newman (“Newman”), the young man who accompanied Bird for part of the day.

Jenna Sills (“Sills”), a friend of Phillips who testified to Bird’s alcohol consumption.

² A week later, she filed an amended complaint. Amend. S&C pp. 1-29 (R. pp. 52-80). Any amendments are irrelevant to this appeal.

to credits, set offs, settlement of judgments, to the extent applicable and allowed pursuant to South Carolina law.” Phillips’ Answer pp. 7-9 (R. pp. 87-89).

On November 17 of that year, Phillips moved for summary judgment, alleging that “he was not a social host with respect to Logan Bird,” the underage driver; that “he did not knowingly or intentionally serve or cause to be served an alcoholic beverage to” her; “that the alcohol allegedly voluntarily purchased, controlled and consumed by [the underage driver] . . . was not the proximate cause of” the collision; and that the decedent’s negligence exceeded Phillips’ as a matter of law. MSJ pp. 1-2 (R. pp. 90-91). But because discovery was incomplete, the trial court denied the motion on February 15, 2022. Feb. 15 Order p. 1 (R. p. 3).

On May 23, 2022, Phillips filed his “renewed” motion for summary judgment, Renewed MSJ pp. 1-2 (R. pp. 648-49), and on June 14, the trial court heard the motion, Dec. 28 Order p. 1 (R. p. 9). In an order filed December 28, 2022, the court granted summary judgment for Phillips, holding that Appellant “failed to prove that Phillips knowingly and intentionally served or caused to be served alcohol to Bird.” Dec. 28 Order pp. 1, 10 (R. pp. 9, 18).

On January 27, 2023, Appellant timely filed and served her Notice of Appeal of the December 28, 2022 order, bringing the appeal properly before this Court. NoA p. 1 (R. p. 740).

FACTS

I. The Big Picture

On June 17, 2017, Logan Bird—a girl of nineteen years and a hundred and ten pounds, September 14, 2020 Deposition of Logan Bird, p. 18, lines 7-9, p. 146, lines 14-17 (R. p. 457, lines 7-9; R. p. 585, lines 14-17)—drank a substantial amount of alcohol as part of a “poker run.” Bird Depo, p. 40, line 18-p. 41, line 10; p. 48, line 22-p. 49, line 24 (R. p. 479, line 18-p. 480, line 10; R. p. 487, line 22-p. 488, line 24).

After Bird returned from the run, Phillips³ called Austin Newman, the young man accompanying Bird, Bird Depo p. 62, line 3-p. 63, line 3 (R. p. 501, line 3-p. 502, line 3), to invite the couple to his house,⁴ Bird Depo p. 66, line 3-p. 67, line 5 (R. p. 505, line 3-p. 506, line 5).

Phillips' house was a known haven for drinking, underage drinking included. *See* April 2, 2021 Deposition of Austin Tyler Newman, p. 20, line 14-p. 22, line 7 (R. p. 167, line 14-p. 169, line 7); February 18, 2021 Deposition of Haley Alexandra Davis, p. 28, lines 12-17, p. 29, lines 16-18 (R. p. 329, lines 12-17; R. p. 330, lines 16-18). This pattern continued on the evening of June 17. Bird did not bring any alcohol with her to Phillips' house, Bird Depo p. 67, lines 6-8 (R. p. 506, lines 6-8), but two witnesses spotted her drinking alcohol on the premises, Davis Depo p. 10 lines 6-17, p. 18 lines 10-13 (R. p. 311, lines 6-17; R. p. 319, lines 10-13); April 22, 2021 Deposition of Jenna Ann Sills, p. 12, line 12-p. 13, line 1, p. 22, line 24-p. 23, line 12 (R. p. 364, line 12-p. 365, line 1; R. p. 374, line 24-p. 375, line 12). This mysterious materialization is no mere coincidence—Phillips provided alcohol to Bird after she came to his house at his invitation.

After plying Bird with alcohol until she was visibly intoxicated, Sills Depo p. 28, lines 2-7; p. 37, lines 2-3 (R. p. 380, lines 2-7; R. p. 389, lines 2-3), Phillips allowed her to drive herself to Kenneth Cole Godley's house, Sills Depo p. 26, lines 10-12 (R. p. 378, lines 10-12). After some time at Godley's house, where Bird drank additional alcohol, she started driving toward her father's house. Bird Depo p. 81, line 24-p. 82, line 4; p. 89, lines 12-14; p. 98, lines 2-4 (R. p. 520, line 24-p. 521, line 4; R. p. 528, lines 12-14; R. p. 537, lines 2-4). On the way, she struck and killed

³ Who was twenty-one years old at the time. September 14, 2020 Deposition of Lisa Phillips, p. 12, lines 20-22 (R. p. 407, lines 20-22).

⁴ The house actually belonged to Phillips' parents. April 7, 2022 Deposition of Joseph Ayden Phillips, III ("Phillips Depo") (R. p. 701, line 14-p. 19, line 1).

Dreher, Appellant's decedent. *See* Bird Depo p. 103, line 16-p. 108, line 9; p. 126, lines 17-23 (R. p. 542, line 16-p. 547, line 9; R. p. 565, lines 17-23).

II. A Detailed View

Before exploring the nuances of the relevant events, it is worth noting that all the witnesses struggled to recall significant details of the relevant period. For example, Godley originally testified that he spent nearly the whole day with Phillips on Sandy Beach; however, after further questioning, he realized that he was testifying to typical Saturday events, not to the events of the day. August 12, 2020 Deposition of Kenneth Cole Godley, p. 25, line 13-p. 26, line 17; p. 69, lines 9-19 (R. p. 209, lines 13-p. 210, line 17; R. p. 253, lines 9-19). Newman did not even remember whose house he had woken up at that morning. Newman Depo p. 9, lines 3-15 (R. p. 156, lines 3-15). Davis was unsure of her memories of that day, because it "was a long time ago." Davis Depo p. 9, lines 10-14 (R. p. 310, lines 10-14). And other witnesses testified to similar lapses. In short, the refrain "I don't remember" permeated the testimony, revealing a mosaic of fragmented memories and questionable credibility.

That said, a description of the testimony follows.

Logan Bird spent the afternoon of June 17, 2017 attending the poker run with several other young people, including Austin Newman. Bird Depo p. 28, line 8-p. 60, line 6 (R. p. 467, line 8-p. 499, line 6). She had at least one-and-a-half vodka mixed drinks during the run (and perhaps considerably more, *see* February 18, 2021 Deposition of Allison Rider, p. 22, lines 17-21 (R. p. 132, lines 17-21); April 22, 2021 Deposition of Graci Jane Conner, p. 16, line 25-p. 17, line 20) (R. p. 287, line 25-p. 288, line 20). Bird Depo p. 40, line 18-p. 41, line 10; p. 48, line 22-p. 50, line 25 (R. p. 479, line 18-p. 480, line 10; R. p. 487, line 22-p. 489, line 25). Meanwhile, another group of friends, including Kenneth Lee Prater, Haley Davis, and Jenna Sills, spent their afternoon at the

Phillips' house. April 22, 2021 Deposition of Kenneth Lee Prater, III, p. 8, lines 14-25 (R. p. 692, lines 14-25); Davis Depo p. 9, lines 15-17 (R. p. 310, lines 15-17); Sills Depo, p. 7, lines 17-20 (R. p. 359, lines 17-20). The two groups ran into each other at El Paso around dinnertime. *See* Davis Depo p. 9, lines 18-24 (R. p. 310, lines 18-24); Bird Depo p. 63, lines 10-13 (R. p. 502, lines 10-13).

From there, the testimony diverges. According to Bird, Phillips called Newman (who was driving her,) to invite the twosome over. Bird Depo pp. 66:3-67:5 (R. p. 505, line 3-p. 506, line 5). But according to Phillips, Bird drove by herself. Phillips Depo p. 18, lines 15-25 (R. p. 703, lines 15-25). Phillips even claimed that he did not even “know who [Bird] was at the time,” Phillips Depo p. 19, lines 1-25 (R. p. 704, lines 1-25), although Sills testified that Bird was “closer with the guys,” including Phillips, Sills Depo p. 11, lines 17-21 (R. p. 363, lines 17-21), and Bird testified that she drank with Phillips about five times before June 17, Bird Depo p. 21, lines 1-16 (R. p. 460, lines 1-16).

In any case, Bird ended up at Phillips' house. *See, e.g.*, Sills Depo p. 7, lines 23-24 (R. p. 359, lines 23-24). She claimed that she did not bring any alcohol to Phillips' house; that she did not drink at his house that evening; and that he did not provide her with alcohol, make alcohol available to her, or encourage her to drink alcohol. Bird Depo p. 67, lines 6-8; p. 68, lines 2-4; p. 147, line 19-p. 148, line 14 (R. p. 506, lines 6-8; R. p. 507, lines 2-4; R. p. 586, line 19-p. 587, line 14).

According to Davis and Sills, however, Bird did drink. Davis and Sills were near Phillips' pool house or pool when Bird arrived. Sills Depo p. 12, lines 8-11 (R. p. 364, lines 8-11); *see* Sills

Depo p. 7, lines 17-21 (R. p. 359, lines 17-21). Bird had a bag of alcoholic drinks.⁵ Davis Depo p. 10, lines 6-17 (R. p. 311, lines 6-17); Sills Depo p. 12, line 12-p. 13, line 1 (R. p. 364, line 12-p. 365, line 1). According to Davis,⁶ Bird was “chugging” a drink, either “a tall boy or a Straw-Ber-Rita.” Davis Depo p. 18, lines 10-13 (R. p. 319, lines 10-13). Sills, similarly, recalled Bird using a “Chambong” (a sophisticated beer bong) to drink from at least one Straw-Ber-Rita tallboy. Sills Depo pp. 22:24-23:12 (R. p. 374, line 24-p. 375, line 12). Davis did not remember whether Phillips handed Bird that drink or whether he was near Bird at the time, Davis Depo p. 36, lines 8-25; p. 40, lines 19-23 (R. p. 337, lines 8-25; R. p. 341, lines 19-23), but Bird testified that Phillips was in the pool area and spoke to her, Bird Depo p. 67, line 11-p. 68, line 1 (R. p. 506, line 11-p. 507, line 1).

In the light most favorable to the plaintiff, then, Bird did not bring alcohol onto Phillips’ property, but rather received alcohol (and a Chambong)—likely from Phillips, despite her self-serving testimony to the contrary—after she arrived.

Such a conclusion is unsurprising. Despite Phillips’ protestation that he and his friends only drank at the house one time in his life, Phillips Depo p. 38, line 13-p. 39, line 16 (R. p. 714, line 13-p. 715, line 16), evidence suggests that youngsters regularly drank there. For example, although Newman “hardly ever” “h[u]ng out at” Phillips’ house, he drank there and witnessed

⁵ Sills was under the impression that Bird “brought alcohol over to Phillips’ house,” that “the only alcohol [Bird] had at Phillips’ house was alcohol she brought herself,” and that Phillips did not provide alcohol for Bird. Sills Depo p. 12, lines 16-17; p. 13, lines 20-25; p. 14, lines 1-3 (R. p. 364, lines 16-17; R. p. 365, lines 20-25; R. p. 366, lines 1-3). However, because Sills was already at the pool or pool house (which, according to Bird, was “in the back,” Bird Depo p. 67, lines 11-13 (R. p. 506, lines 11-13)), she did not necessarily see Bird arrive on the property. Furthermore, she evidently did not remember whether “there was any alcohol” at Phillips’ house “available for Bird . . . to drink.” Sills Depo p. 18, lines 7-11; p. 23, lines 20-23 (R. p. 370, lines 7-11; R. p. 375, lines 20-23).

⁶ Based on her earlier police statement, which she believed to be accurate. Davis Depo p. 14, line 24-p. 17, line 22 (R. p. 315, line 24-p. 318, line 22).

others—including Bird—doing so in the mere “handful of times” he visited. Newman Depo p. 20, line 14-p. 22, line 7 (R. p. 167, line 14-p. 169, line 7). Davis, too, testified that she drank alcohol at Phillips’ house while he was present, possibly while she was underage. Davis Depo p. 28, lines 12-17; p. 29, lines 16-18 (R. p. 319, lines 12-17; R. p. 330, lines 16-18). In general, Phillips, who claimed that he never provided alcohol to a minor, Phillips Depo p. 62, lines 16-18 (R. p. 717, lines 16-18), failed to keep track of his friends’ ages, thus rendering underage drinking more likely, Phillips Depo p. 29, lines 1-8 (R. p. 709, lines 1-8).⁷

In fact, Davis and Sills were both underage on June 17, 2017. Davis Depo p. 12, line 5 (R. p. 313, line 5); Dec. 28 Order p. 5 (R. p. 13, line 10). Nevertheless, Davis could not recall whether Phillips “handed” her any alcohol that day, and Sills was unsure whether she drank at Phillips’ house just before going to Godley’s. Davis Depo p. 37, lines 8-14 (R. p. 338, lines 8-14);⁸ Sills Depo p. 9, line 17-p. 10, line 2 (R. p. 361, line 17-p. 362, line 2).

In any case, Bird was obviously intoxicated at some point after dark. Sills Depo p. 28, lines 2-7; p. 37, lines 2-3 (R. p. 380, lines 2-7; R. p. 389, lines 2-3). This may well have been at Phillips’ house. *See* Newman Depo p. 22, lines 15-20 (R. p. 169, lines 15-20) (the get-together at Godley’s house occurred after dark); Phillips Depo p. 21, line 23-p. 22, line 10 (R. p. 705, line 23-p. 706, line 10) (he and his guests may have left for Godley’s house around 9 p.m.).⁹ Nonetheless, at least

⁷ “2011” should be “2017.”

⁸ Earlier in her deposition, Davis testified that Phillips “never provided [her] alcohol,” Davis Depo p. 29, lines 1-6 (R. p. 330, lines 1-6), but her later uncertainty about June 17 contradicts that assertion.

⁹ *See also June 2017 - Lexington, South Carolina - Sunrise and Sunset Calendar, Sunrise-Sunset*, <https://sunrise-sunset.org/us/lexington-sc/2017/6> (last visited April 11, 2023) (In Lexington, SC on June 17, 2017, twilight ended at 9:07:34 p.m.).

according to Sills, Phillips let Bird drive herself to Godley's house. Sills Depo p. 26, lines 10-12 (R. p. 378, lines 10-12).¹⁰

After a few hours¹¹ at Godley's house, during which Bird consumed at least one more beer, Bird Depo p. 81, line 24-p. 82, line 4 (R. p. 520, line 24-p. 521, line 4), she left for her father's house, Bird Depo p. 89, lines 12-14 (R. p. 528, lines 12-14). While on her way, she "felt [a] huge thud." Bird Depo p. 103, lines 20-23 (R. p. 542, lines 20-23). She later realized that the "thud" was Dreher. Bird Depo p. 126, lines 17-23 (R. p. 565, lines 17-23).¹²

III. The Trial Court's Ruling

In Phillips' renewed motion for summary judgment, he argued that he had no duty to Dreher because (1) "he was not a social host" to Bird; (2) "he did not knowingly or intentionally serve" alcohol to Bird, or cause alcohol to be served to her; and (3) "the alcohol allegedly

¹⁰ *But see* Bird Depo p. 75, lines 8-10; p. 76, lines 10-21 (R. p. 514, lines 8-10; R. p. 515, lines 10-21) (alleging that Newman drove her to Godley's house). Newman, in contrast, did not even recall going to Phillips' house. Newman Depo p. 19, lines 13-15 (R. p. 166, lines 13-15).

¹¹ As noted, Bird may well have arrived at Godley's house at around 9:00 p.m. But if Godley's testimony (though singularly confused on that point) can be believed, she may have arrived later than 10:30 p.m. Godley Depo p. 35, lines 9-12 (R. p. 219, lines 9-12).

On the other end, Bird thought that she likely left Godley's house at 2:15 a.m., Bird Depo p. 98, lines 2-4 (R. p. 537, lines 2-4), but evidence suggests she may have left much earlier. According to Bird, Godley was awake when she left, Bird Depo p. 86, line 23-p. 87, line 1 (R. p. 525, line 23-p. 526, line 1); Godley testified that he went to bed at about 1:00 a.m. Godley Depo p. 43, lines 1-14 (R. p. 227, lines 1-14). Thus, the gap between her visit to Phillips' house and her fateful drive home might have been as little as two-and-a-half hours, but was likely closer to four or five.

¹² According to Dr. Timothy Seybt, the pathologist who examined Dreher's body, Dreher had also been drinking: his blood-alcohol content was .326 when he was killed. December 2, 2020 Deposition of Timothy Paul Seybt, MD, p. 9, lines 5-8; p. 12, lines 3-10; p. 15, lines 4-13 (R. p. 678, lines 5-8; R. p. 679, lines 3-10; R. p. 680, lines 4-13). However, this does not mean Dreher was at fault. His blood-alcohol level did not permit Dr. Seybt to conclude that he was unconscious when Bird struck him. Seybt Depo p. 22, line 18-p. 23, line 3 (R. p. 684, line 18-p. 685, line 3). Furthermore, although Dr. Seybt opined that Dreher was lying in the road when Bird struck him, he couched his opinion carefully, stating that it was based on "the evidence that [he] had at the time." Seybt Depo p. 33, lines 9-17 (R. p. 687, lines 9-17).

voluntarily purchased, controlled and consumed by [Bird] . . . was not the proximate cause of an accident” where Bird “ran over the plaintiff’s decedent, passed out in the public road, some eight hours after she left Ayden Phillips’ home.” Renewed MSJ pp. 1-2 (R. pp. 648-49). Phillips argued that even if he had a duty to Dreher, Dreher was “more negligent than Phillips as a matter of law” because he “was grossly intoxicated,¹³ passed out in the middle of the dark public road in the lane of travel of Bird’s car.” Renewed MSJ p. 2 (R. p. 649, lines 2-5).

The trial court granted Phillips’ motion. Dec. 28 Order p. 1 (R. p. 9). “[R]ecogniz[ing] some disparity between the depositions,” it claimed to view the facts “in the light most favorable to” Appellant. Dec. 28 Order pp. 2-3 (R. pp. 10-11). However, rather than truly viewing the facts and related inferences in this light—which would have produced a narrative much like the one above—the court understandably, but erroneously, sought to reconcile the disparate accounts.¹⁴

In light of its own reading of events, the court decided that “there is no evidence that Phillips served, or caused to be served, alcohol to Ms. Bird,” and that “[a]ssuming that Ms. Bird consumed alcohol at the home, there is no genuine issue of material fact . . . showing that Phillips knowingly and intentionally caused Bird to be served.” Dec. 28 Order pp. 8-9 (R. pp. 16-17). Similarly, it held that Phillips did not “provide[] a ‘safe haven’ for Ms. Bird as an underage

¹³ A slight clarification: according to both the original and the renewed motion, Dreher’s “undisputed blood-alcohol level” was .334. MSJ p. 2, Renewed MSJ p. 2 (R. p. 91, lines 5-6; R. p. 649, lines 5-6). But according to Dr. Seybt’s testimony—which Phillips included as an exhibit to both of his memoranda in support—Dreher’s ultimate blood-alcohol level was .326. Seybt Depo p. 9, lines 5-8; p. 12, lines 3-10; p. 15, lines 4-13 (R. p. 678, lines 5-8; p. 679, lines 3-10; p. 680, lines 4-13).

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