RECEIVED

Sep 07 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000143
Civil Action No. 2020-CP-32-00146

CONSTANCE MAYERS as Personal
Representative for the Estate of Darrius
“George” Dreher,

Appellant,

v.

Logan Bird, Samuel Bird, James Coleman
Hunter, Ayden Phillips, Kenneth Cole
Godley, Dominion Energy South Carolina,
Inc., Mark McMillian, and Kimberly
McMillian, Defendants,

of whom AYDEN PHILLIPS is the

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Catharine Garbee Griffin
S.C. Bar No.: 9821
BAKER, RAVENEL & BENDER, LLP

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE SOCIAL HOST DOCTRINE DOES NOT HOLD HOSTS LIABLE UNLESS THEY PROVIDE, SERVE, OR CAUSE TO BE SERVED ALCOHOL TO AN UNDERAGE INDIVIDUAL.

The trial court properly granted summary judgment to Phillips in this case because the Plaintiff-Appellant failed to show that Phillips breached any duty owed as a social host. The common law in South Carolina provides that "an adult social host who knowingly and intentionally serves, or causes to be served, an alcoholic beverage to a person he knows or reasonably should know is between the ages of 18 and 20 is liable to the person served and to any other person for damages proximately resulting from the host's service of alcohol." *Marcum v. Bowden*, 372 S.C. 452, 455, 643 S.E.2d 85, 86 (2007). To recover under this doctrine, a party must prove 1) alcohol was served, or was caused to be served, by the host to someone the host knew or should have known was between the ages of 18 and 20; 2) this service was knowing and intentional, and; 3) the damages complained of proximately resulted from such service. Additionally, the South Carolina District Court has noted that a finding of liability under this "very narrowly limited" duty requires "affirmative, intentional action by the owner of the duty to create or exacerbate the

diminished abilities of the party who actually inflicts harm on the third party.” *Hoskins v. Snipes-King*, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 135624 at *5 (D.S.C. Apr. 27, 2009) (emphasis added).

There was no evidence presented to the trial court that Ayden Phillips knowingly and intentionally served alcohol to Logan Bird—or anyone present at his parents’ home on June 17, 2017. The evidence is wholly to the contrary: all the witnesses who were present at the Phillips’ home testified that Phillips did not serve alcohol to Bird. They also testified that Phillips did not purchase alcohol for Bird. (R. p. 907; R. p. 835, 837; R. p. 365, 370; R. p. 341; R. pp. 506-07, 586-87). The Plaintiff-Appellant attempts to obfuscate the issue regarding the lack of evidence for their position on the central question on duty by focusing on immaterial and irrelevant facts, including the number of times Bird and Phillips met prior to June 17, 2017; the number of times underage drinking had occurred at his home; whether he invited her with her boyfriend Austin Newman or someone else did; or whether Bird actually had anything to drink at Phillips’ home. The operative question regarding the breach of duty is whether Ayden Phillips provided alcohol, served alcohol, or caused alcohol to be served to Logan Bird on June 17, 2017? The trial court found he did not because there is no competent evidence to support any other conclusion.

Moreover, there is no evidence that Phillips “caused to be served alcohol” to Bird while she was at his house. The narrow exception carved out to the common law of South Carolina allowing for social host liability for serving underage individuals requires intentionality in service or providing the alcohol. In other circumstances where South Carolina courts recognize the phrase, “cause to be served,” the language almost exclusively refers to an action taken by one party upon another. For example, an attorney may “cause to be served” upon an individual an affidavit. A county office may “cause to be served” on a landowner a notice of condemnation. *Emerson v. Kaminski*, 143 S.C. 36, 141 S.E. 108 (1928). Banks may be required to certify that they “caused

to be served” a copy of application for default. *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Ousley*, 2017 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 646. The use of this phrase is active, requiring some initiation on the part of the one causing the service. In this matter, Phillips took no such steps, initiated no such action, nor is there evidence which suggests he did. Even if Logan Bird came to his house with her own alcohol and proceeded to drink it in front of him, this would not be enough to suggest that he “served or caused her to be served” as that verb is used by the courts and legislature of this State.

Assuming that Bird brought her own alcohol and drank it on the premises, outside of Phillips’ presence, the Plaintiff-Appellant still does not have any evidence to satisfy the narrow standard under *Marcum v. Bowden*. Although there is no case addressing this issue directly in South Carolina, the Oregon Supreme Court has found that the phrase “served or provided” relies heavily upon “whether the social host has control over the alcohol that was supplied.” *Baker v. Croslin*, 376 P.3d 267, 271 (2016). The Court reinforced its holding that “where a defendant has no control over the supply of alcohol, the defendant cannot be liable for permitting a person” to consume that alcohol. *Id.* Additionally, the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts applied its common law social host liability “only in cases where the host had actually served alcohol or made it available.” *Juliano v. Simpson*, 962 N.E.2d 175, 181 (2012). The court distinguished the host who “lacked the obligation, or the means, effectively to control the supply” of alcohol from the host who “furnishes liquor to guests,” finding that the latter host is more “like a bartender in a licensed establishment who is well situated to shut off guests who should not be drinking because of age or intoxication.” *Id.*, at 182. In the present case, there is no evidence Ayden Phillips exercised control over any alcohol consumed by Defendant Bird or even that he knew that she was drinking on his premises.

The trial court properly applied the social host doctrine in finding that even if Bird consumed alcohol on the premises, liability does not attach to Phillips absent a showing that he in some way served or provided alcohol to her.

Plaintiff-Appellant cites to the principle that this Court should not “make factual determinations” or “consider the merits of competing testimony.” Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 10. However, it goes on to ask this Court to do just that, going so far as to provide the specific inferences it wishes the Court to draw which is an inappropriate application of the law. While courts must draw inferences in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, what Plaintiff-Appellant asks this Court to do is to look at facts which are properly in evidence and decide they do not exist. Rather than relying upon the enumerated allegations and possibilities which arise from the negative space, this Court has authority to rely upon the clear testimony before it: that Phillips did not provide, serve, or cause to be served alcohol to anyone, including Logan Bird, on June 17, 2017. (R. p. 907; R. p. 835, 837; R. p. 365, 370; R. p. 341; R. p. 506-07, 586-87). In the absence of evidence that Phillips effectuated alcohol into the hands or mouth of Bird, Plaintiff-Appellant can show no breach of duty. In the absence of a breach of duty, Plaintiff-Appellant’s claims fail as a matter of law, and, therefore, summary judgment was properly granted by the trial court.

II. THE ‘SAFE HAVEN’ DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY TO INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE NOT SUBJECT TO THE ALCOHOL AND BEVERAGE CONTROL STATUTES.

Plaintiff-Appellant next asserts that Phillips’ home was a “known haven” for underage drinkers, and that as such, social host liability exists. Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 3. However, the courts of this State have made clear that the safe haven doctrine applies only to licensees under the

Alcohol and Beverage Control statutes. Plaintiff-Appellant concedes this point. The primary case on point for this issue is *Norton v. Opening Break*, in which a bar created an atmosphere where minors could possess and consume alcohol with near impunity, and where they were provided that alcohol by the bar. *Norton v. Opening Break*, 313 S.C. 508, 443 S.E.2d 406 (Ct. App. 1994). When an underage drinker left this bar and caused harm to a third party, the Court found the bar liable for the third party's damages by importing the statute which prohibits liquor licensees from allowing underage drinkers to possess or consume alcohol on their premises. This ruling explicitly excluded non-licensees and made the civil cause of action – and liability – inherent to the liquor licensure itself, as the regulations governing licensees do not broadly apply to members of the general public. Therefore, the trial court correctly ruled that the safe haven doctrine did not extend to social hosts.

Furthermore, Phillips denies Plaintiff-Appellant's unsubstantiated allegation that his residence was a safe haven for underage drinkers. Plaintiff-Appellant mischaracterizes two points of testimony in asserting the Phillips' residence was a safe haven. Initial Brief of the Appellant, p. 3. Haley Davis' testimony was not that the Phillips' home was a safe haven, but that she could not remember if she had ever had a drink at the home while she was underage. (R. p. 329, lines 12-17; R. p. 330, lines 16-18). Austin Newman's testimony was that he had consumed alcohol at the Phillips' home prior to the date of *his deposition* (which occurred four years post-incident), and that he believes he had seen Bird drink at the Phillips' home at some time *after* the night of June 17, 2017. (R. p. 167, line 14-p. 169, line 7). Therefore, even if you assume the 'safe haven' doctrine would be extended to social hosts, there is no evidence that Phillips provided a safe haven for underage drinkers.

Additionally, while Plaintiff-Appellant purports to submit “a modest proposal” to extend the safe haven concept to social hosts, the deeper implication suggests a broader concept: the imposition of statutory frameworks to private citizens to whom they were not legislated to apply. While this Court has authority to find that legislation has gone beyond its bounds, it is not the aim of this Court to stretch the bounds of regulations drafted by the General Assembly to effectuate a prohibition designed for voluntarily licensed entities upon the general population at large. Further, even if there were substantiated evidence that Phillips’ home was such a safe haven, and this Court were willing to bind private individuals to regulatory schemes, the only pertinent factual question at issue is the same as above: did Ayden Phillips provide, serve, or cause to be served alcohol to Logan Bird on June 17, 2017? The facts in evidence do not support a finding that he did, nor provide a mere scintilla for Plaintiff-Appellant to rely upon in their assertion that he did. (R. p. 907; R. p. 835, 837; R. p. 365, 370; R. p. 341; R. p. 506-07, 586-87). Therefore, this court should reject the Plaintiff-Appellant’s proposal to extend the safe haven doctrine to social hosts.

III. ADDITIONAL GROUNDS SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT’S GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT

A. Plaintiff-Appellant failed to show any actual or proximate causation between its damages and Defendant-Respondent.

Summary judgment was also properly granted in this case as Plaintiff-Appellant failed to meet another essential element of its claim for negligence – actual or proximate causation. To be subject to liability under the social host doctrine, the damages complained of must have been proximately caused by the defendant’s actions, specifically, the service of alcohol to an underage adult. *Marcum*, 372 S.C. 452, at 455, 643 S.E.2d at 86. “Proximate cause requires proof of (1) causation in fact and (2) legal cause.” *Whitlaw v. Kroger Co.*, 306 S.C. 51, 54, 410 S.E.2d 251,

253 (1991). The Supreme Court of South Carolina has held that “causation in fact is proved by establishing the injury would not have occurred ‘but for’ the defendant’s negligence,” and that “legal cause is proved by establishing foreseeability.” *Id.*, citing *Bramlette v. Charter-Medical Columbia*, 302 S.C. 68, 74, 393 S.E.2d 914, 916 (1989). Further, a plaintiff only proves legal cause by “establishing the injury in question occurred as a natural and probable consequence of the defendant’s negligence.” *Id.*

In the present matter, Plaintiff-Appellant has presented no evidence that any act or omission by Phillips is the cause of the decedent’s death. The pathologist, Dr. Timothy Seybt, testified the decedent had a blood alcohol level of .326 at the time samples were collected. (R. p. 784, lines 15-17). He additionally testified that this level may have been higher at the time of the accident, and that this amount of blood intoxication can be enough to cause an individual to stop breathing, though he did not say conclusively if this was the case for the decedent. (R. p. 783, line 9-p. 785, line 1). He further testified that the decedent was laying prone in the road at the time he was struck by Defendant Bird’s vehicle, indicating he may have already been deceased when Defendant Bird was driving home. (R. p. 787, line 14-p. 789, line 23). Plaintiff-Appellant has additionally not provided evidence that Defendant Bird was intoxicated when she left Defendant Godley’s home. There is a distinct possibility that Defendant Bird was not intoxicated at the time of the incident, but simply that the decedent was either passed out or otherwise unconscious in the middle of a dark road and was, unfortunately, struck.

There are several intervening factors between the time Bird spent at the Phillips’ home and the time of the accident. Primarily, there is an approximately seven hour time gap between when Bird was alleged to have consumed one drink at Phillips’ home which she brought with her and when she struck the decedent on the way to her own home. Additionally, Bird spent those seven

hours at another residence where she and others have testified that she did consume alcohol. Phillips cannot be held liable for the superseding acts of other defendants, including anyone who may have provided Defendant Bird alcohol after she left Phillips' home.

Plaintiff-Appellant attempts to impose the compounding indemnification of *dram shop liability* to hold each *social host* Bird encountered on June 17, 2017 liable for the death of its decedent. Public policy permits this kind of imposition upon entities and individuals subject to the regulatory standards required to maintain an ABC licensure; however, the courts of this State have not imposed such standards upon social hosts. To do so would be to state that social hosts have a duty to third parties to monitor the actions of not only their guests, but also subsequent hosts, long after their event has concluded. In the present case, Plaintiff-Appellant has failed to show any breach of duty by Phillips which in any way caused the death of Mr. Dreher. There is no conclusive evidence as to the cause of Mr. Dreher's death; there is no evidence that Defendant Bird was intoxicated at the time of the incident; and there is no evidence that Phillips contributed in any way to either Mr. Dreher's death or Defendant Bird's alleged intoxication.

B. Plaintiff-Appellant is barred from recovery by Dreher's comparative negligence.

It is not disputed by the Plaintiff-Appellant that George Dreher was grossly intoxicated on the night he died. In the Amended Complaint, the Plaintiff-Appellant alleges that the restaurant, the Frayed Knot Bar & Grill, LLC, overserved him alcohol. (R. pp. 54-55). Plaintiff-Appellant alleges that George Dreher went to the Frayed Knot in "a state of intoxication." (R. p. 65). They also allege that despite George Dreher being intoxicated, the Frayed Knot agents and employees allowed George to continue to drink until approximately 1:00 a.m., serving him when he was visibly intoxicated. (R. p. 65). The Amended Complaint further alleges that the Frayed Knot

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